RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-25-2016

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2016AP88-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KARL W. NICHOLS,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN K. BERZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was the defendant's right to due process violated by the State's failure to preserve evidence that was apparently exculpatory, or by the failure in bad faith to preserve evidence that was potentially exculpatory?

The circuit court ruled that the State acted in bad faith when it failed to preserve apparently exculpatory evidence.

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

There is no need for oral argument of this appeal because it would add nothing to the arguments in the briefs. The opinion should not be published because this case involves only the application of settled law to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

This is an appeal by the State from an order of the Circuit Court for Dane County, Ellen K. Berz, Judge, entered December 1, 2015, which vacated the conviction of the defendant-respondent, Karl W. Nichols, for first-degree sexual assault of a child, and dismissed the case with prejudice, because the court found that the State, acting in bad faith, failed to preserve evidence that was apparently exculpatory.

Procedural History

On September 26, 2011, the victim, MW, was interviewed by Jane Holzrichter, the director of the Child Advocacy Center at Horizons Mental Health Center in Hutchinson, Kansas, regarding events that had transpired several years earlier in Madison, Wisconsin. (85, Ex. 2; 141:91.) A second interview was conducted December 22, 2011. (85, Ex. 3.)

Based on the information provided by MW in these interviews, the case was referred to the Madison Police Department for possible charges of child sexual assault. (2:1.) The Dane County District Attorney filed a complaint charging Nichols with first-degree sexual assault of a child on March 6, 2012. (2.)

Following a jury trial conducted November 12 to 14, 2013, Nichols was convicted of the charged offense, and sentenced to five years of probation. (97; 134-40.)

Nichols filed a postconviction motion May 29, 2015, complaining, among other things, that the State failed to preserve and disclose exculpatory evidence. (98.)

An evidentiary hearing was held August 5 and 6, and September 14, 2015. (141-43.)

The circuit court issued its decision and order granting the postconviction motion in part, vacating Nichols' conviction and dismissing the case with prejudice on December 1, 2015. (121.)

The State appealed January 7, 2016. (123.)

Disposition In The Circuit Court

In a lengthy and detailed decision and order, the circuit court found that at the second interview, MW had a list of corrections she wanted to make regarding things she said at the first interview. (121:19.)

The court found that Holzrichter failed to preserve this list, and that the list was never given to Detective Justine Harris, the investigating officer on the case in Madison. (121:19-20.) The court found that the list was never preserved by the State and no longer exists. (121:21.) The court found that MW's list of corrections was apparently material and exculpatory because the prosecution's case depended solely on the statements of the victim. (121:21.) The court assumed that the unknown corrections could have been devastating to MW's credibility, and could have enabled the defense to strongly discredit MW's memory, honesty and motives. (121:22-23.)

The court thought that the unpreserved evidence was material because it could have played such a significant role in the defense strategy that the failure to preserve the evidence shook the court's confidence in the fairness of the trial and the verdict. (121:23.)

The court found that the exculpatory value of the list of corrections was apparent at the time of the second interview. (121:23-24.)

The court speculated that the defense could not obtain comparable evidence by asking MW to recreate her list of corrections. (121:24-25.)

The court found that the State acted in bad faith because no one in Wisconsin asked Holzrichter to give them MW's list of corrections. (121:25-26.) The court found that Holzrichter acted in bad faith by obviously attempting to conceal the list. (121:26.) The court found that the State made conscious efforts to suppress exculpatory evidence. (121:27.)

The court determined that the proper remedy to avoid a corruption of the truth-seeking function of the trial process was vacation of the judgment of conviction and dismissal of the case with prejudice. (121:27-28.)

Facts

MW was born March 25, 2001, and lived in Madison until 2010 when she and her family moved to Kansas. (2:1.)

In September 2011, MW told her parents that Nichols had touched her vagina when they were living in Madison. (2:2.)

On September 26, 2011, when MW was ten years old, she had her first interview with Holzrichter. (85, Ex. 2:4.)

MW told Holzrichter that she would have sleepovers at Nichols' house where she and Nichols' son, who was her age, would wrestle with Nichols while they were wearing little or no clothing. (85, Ex. 2:13-14.) MW said this happened often when she was between four and seven years old. (85, Ex. 2:15.)

MW said she took off her clothes because she was hot. (85, Ex. 2:14.) She said that Nichols did not object to her getting undressed, and encouraged her to take her clothes off. (85, Ex. 2:14-15.)

MW recounted one incident when she was four or five when Nichols felt around the inside and outside of her vagina with his hands. (85, Ex. 2:19.) Nichols told her that he wondered what it was like to have a vagina because he did not have one. (85, Ex. 2:20.) MW did not have any objection because, being so young, she did not think there was anything wrong with it. (85, Ex. 2:19, 22.)

Although MW said that was the only time that Nichols intentionally touched her vagina, there was one other occasion when Nichols incidentally touched her unclothed vagina as he was giving her a sponge bath. (85, Ex. 2:20, 34-35.)

MW admitted that it was hard for her to remember everything clearly after so long, and that many of her memories blended together. (85, Ex. 2:21, 28.) However, she said that nothing else happened that she could think of. (85, Ex. 2:37-38.)

When the Madison police became involved in the case, they asked Holzrichter to conduct a second follow up interview to clarify information MW provided at the first interview, and to get additional information on topics that had not been fully covered the first time. (111; 141:99; 143:62, 88.) Detective Harris listened to this interview on the telephone. (143:61-62.)

At the second interview, MW acknowledged that she had watched a recording of her first interview. (85, Ex. 3:11.) At this time MW was holding a pad of paper, which she continued to hold throughout the second interview. (85, Ex. 5; 121:16.)

MW went into more detail about what happened during the touching incident. She said that she climbed up onto Nichols' lap when he patted it while he was sitting in a reclining chair. (85, Ex. 3:13-14.) Nichols asked MW if he could touch her vagina because he wondered what it would be like to be a girl and have a vagina. (85, Ex. 3:14-15.) When MW said yes, Nichols asked her to unzip her pajamas, which she did. (85, Ex. 3:15.) MW did not remember what happened to the underwear she had on, but stated that Nichols touched her vagina inside and out with his hands. (85, Ex. 3:14, 16, 35.)

Again, MW admitted that her memory was not the best, but assured Holzrichter that everything she said that day was true to the best of her recollection. (85, Ex. 3:31, 41.)

After the questioning was concluded, Holzrichter asked MW if she had written down some things she was wondering about. (85, Ex. 3:44, 46.) MW replied, "I wrote down some things that I think I, I changed from the last interview." (85, Ex. 3:46; 121:17.)

MW said that Nichols did not suggest that she should take off her clothes as she previously stated. (85, Ex. 3:46.) She said that Nichols simply did not object when she took her clothes off. (85, Ex. 3:46.)

Holzrichter asked MW if she felt that it was her fault that she did not object to any of this. (85, Ex. 3:46.)

MW said that she did feel it was her fault, but felt better after she talked to her therapist about it. (85, Ex. 3:46.)

Holzrichter then stood up, walked toward the door, and suggested that MW should say goodbye to the people who were listening to the interview. (85, Ex. 3:46; 85, Ex. 5; 121:17.)

But MW, following Holzrichter with the pad of paper in her hand, said, "First, can I tell you, um, the rest of this?" (85, Ex. 3:46; 85, Ex. 5; 121:17.)

Holzrichter said, "Sure. We can do that and then I'm going to take a copy of it so they can have it, too." (85, Ex. 3:46.)

At that point the recording of the interview ended. (85, Ex. 3:46.)

The recordings of both interviews were played at the trial, and the transcripts were provided to the jurors. (135:31, 48.)

At the hearing on Nichols' postconviction motion, Holzrichter said that MW handed her the list of changes she had written down. (141:92.) She admitted that she did not make a copy of the list. (141:93.) She thought she had read the list, but was not sure. (141:103.) She also thought she had given the list to a worker from the Department of Children and Families, but had no present memory of actually doing that. (141:92, 104.) She admitted that she did not send a copy of the list to Detective Harris in Madison. (141:93, 105-06.)

Detective Harris testified that having listened to the second interview on the phone, she was aware that MW had a list of changes. (143:62.) Harris said she never received a copy of that list. (143:63.) She explained that she did not follow up on the list with anyone in Kansas because she did not think it was significant. (143:63-64, 99.)

But when Nichols' postconviction counsel thought the list was significant, Harris attempted to retrieve it from several people in Kansas without success. (143:65-67.)

ARGUMENT

The defendant's right to due process was not violated by the State's failure to preserve evidence.

This case actually comes in the context of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to raise in the circuit court any issue involving the State's failure to preserve MW's list of changes to things she said at the first interview.

A criminal defendant who claims his attorney was ineffective has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *State v. Allen,* 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433; *State v. Thiel,* 2003 WI 111, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; *State v. Smith,* 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997). A claim of ineffective assistance fails if the defendant fails to prove either one of these

requirements. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719; *State v. Taylor*, 2004 WI App 81, ¶ 14, 272 Wis. 2d 642, 679 N.W.2d 893.

Nichols would not be able to prove prejudice if the State was not constitutionally culpable for failing to preserve the list of changes. So the easiest way to proceed on this appeal is to show that Nichols' right to due process was not violated by the State's failure to preserve this list.

The Due Process Clause does not impose on the police "an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution." *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988). *Accord State v. Weissinger*, 2014 WI App 73, ¶ 10, 355 Wis. 2d 546, 851 N.W.2d 780, *aff'd sub nom. State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592. "Whatever duty the Constitution imposes on the States to preserve evidence, that duty must be limited to evidence that might be expected to play a significant role in the suspect's defense." *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 488 (1984). *Accord State v. Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d 351, 358, 392 N.W.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1986).

Thus, the Constitution distinguishes between material exculpatory evidence and evidence that is only potentially useful to the defense. *Illinois v. Fisher*, 540 U.S. 544, 547-49 (2004); *Weissinger*, 355 Wis. 2d 546, ¶ 10.

Due process is violated when the State fails to preserve material exculpatory evidence regardless of the good or bad faith of the prosecution. *Fisher*, 540 U.S. at 547 (citing *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97 (1976)); *Weissinger*, 355 Wis. 2d 546, ¶ 10; *State v. Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d 59, 67, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1994).

By contrast, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not violate due process unless the State acted in bad faith. *Fisher*, 540 U.S. at 547-48 (citing *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 57-58); *Weissinger*, 355 Wis. 2d 546, ¶ 10; *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 67.

To be exculpatory, evidence must have both qualitative and quantitative attributes.

Qualitatively, evidence must be favorable to the accused, either because it tends to establish his innocence or because it impeaches the credibility of a prosecution witness. *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 12 & nn.9-10, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737 (citing *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 280-82 (1999), and *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)). *See Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58.

Quantitatively, the evidence must be material because it puts the whole case in such a different light that it undermines confidence in a verdict of guilt. *Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, ¶¶ 13-15 & nn.12-13 (citing *Bagley*, 473 U.S. at 682, and *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972)). The mere possibility that information might help the defense does not make it material in the constitutional sense. *Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, ¶ 16 (citing *Agurs*, 427 U.S. at 109-10). There is never a violation of the duty to disclose evidence unless the failure to disclose was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that the undisclosed evidence would have resulted in a different verdict. *Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, ¶ 14 (citing *Strickler*, 527 U.S. at 281).

Evidence is apparently exculpatory when it possesses an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was lost, and is of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means. *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489; *State v. Munford*, 2010 WI App

168, ¶ 21, 330 Wis. 2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264; *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 67.

Evidence is potentially exculpatory when it could have led to other evidence that could have exonerated the defendant. *Fisher*, 540 U.S. at 547-48; *Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, ¶ 12. *See Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 56-57 & n.*.

The police act in bad faith when they are aware of the potentially exculpatory value of the evidence, and act with official animus or make a conscious effort to suppress it. *Weissinger*, 355 Wis. 2d 546, ¶ 10; *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 69. There is no bad faith when the police negligently, inadvertently or carelessly fail to preserve the evidence. *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 68-70. *See Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58.

A defendant who claims his right to due process was denied by the loss of apparently exculpatory evidence must demonstrate both that the evidence had an exculpatory value that was apparent to those who had custody of the evidence before it was lost, and that he was unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means. *Munford*, 330 Wis. 2d 575, ¶ 21. *See Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 69.

When the evidence is only potentially exculpatory, the defendant has the burden to prove the police acted in bad faith. *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 70.

If the defendant succeeds in establishing a due process violation, the imposition of a sanction for the violation is within the discretion of the circuit court. *State v. Huggett*, 2010 WI App 69, ¶ 25, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675; *Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d at 361.

On appeal, the circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d at 356-57. The question whether there was a constitutional violation because of the failure to preserve evidence is considered de novo. *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 66-67; *Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d at 357. The circuit court's choice of a sanction is reviewed for erroneous exercise of discretion. *Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d at 361.

- A. The unpreserved evidence was not apparently exculpatory.
 - 1. The unpreserved evidence would not impeach the credibility of a prosecution witness.

MW's list of changes to some things she said at the first interview was not apparently exculpatory because it would not impeach her credibility. To the contrary, it elevated her credibility.

The fact that a ten-year-old girl, on her own, without anyone suggesting that anything she said at the first interview needed to be changed, took the initiative in drawing up a list of changes she thought should be made shows that MW was trying to be scrupulously honest and accurate about everything she said.

MW brought her list of changes to the attention of the person who interviewed her without being asked if there was anything that should be changed. (85, Ex. 3:46.) She persisted in seeking to make those changes when the interviewer did not think her changes mattered. (85, Ex. 3:46.)

The circuit court overstated the case when it said that confidence in MW's ability to accurately remember an event that happened when she was four years old could have been "severely eroded" by her list of changes. (121:23.)

The fact that MW wanted to make some changes in things she said at the first interview indicates that her memory may have initially been faulty. But MW admitted at both interviews that she had difficulty remembering everything clearly. (85, Ex. 2:21; 85, Ex. 3:17.) So the list of changes did not imply anything that was not stated expressly. The list did nothing to additionally erode MW's credibility.

Indeed, the fact that MW wanted to make changes at the second interview shows that her memory had improved over what it had been the first time. And because she now remembered things better, she wanted to get straight some things she may not have remembered as clearly at the first interview.

In any event, any lapses of memory concerned completely collateral matters. MW's memory of the event that resulted in the criminal charges against Nichols was clear and detailed in both interviews. (85, Ex. 2:19-20; 85, Ex. 3:13-16.) MW said that she remembered the things that she said happened to her. (85, Ex. 3:43-44.) MW's memory about other things may have been fuzzy, but not about that.

Thus, the unpreserved evidence would not have adversely affected the credibility of MW regarding her testimony that Nichols touched her vagina. 2. The unpreserved evidence was not material.

a. It is not probable that the unpreserved evidence would have changed the result of the trial.

MW never said that she had any "corrections" to make in anything she said. She said she had "changed" some things from the first interview. (85, Ex. 3:46; 121:17.)

The word "change" simply means to cause to be different, or to exchange or replace. *The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language* 319 (3d ed. 1996); *Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary* 373-74 (unabr. 1986). It does not have the connotation of substituting something for what is mistaken, inaccurate or untrue that the word "correction" has. *American Heritage Dictionary* at 422; *Webster's Dictionary* at 511. That word, with its negative connotation, was used by persons other than MW to inaccurately restate what MW said.

The circuit court's finding that MW had a list of "corrections" from her "incorrect" statements at the first interview (121:19) is clearly erroneous. The fact reflected by the record is that MW had a list of "changes," with no connotation that anything she wanted to change was necessarily incorrect or untrue.

The first change that MW wanted to make at the end of the second interview was helpful to Nichols. MW indicated that Nichols did not encourage her to take off her clothes, as she said the first time, but that he merely did not object when she took them off. (85, Ex. 3:46.) The circuit court "assume[d]" from MW's "intelligence" that the other changes she had written down were of "similar significance." (121:22.)

But the court's conclusion does not follow logically from its premise. The fact that MW is intelligent has no bearing on the nature of the changes she wanted to make. An intelligent child could make changes that were insignificant or inculpatory as well as changes that were significant or exculpatory. What might have seemed significant to a child striving to scrupulously state the facts might not be significant to a court striving to correctly apply the law.

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