RECEIVED

07-25-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Appeal No. 16AP88-CR Dane County Case No. 12CF412

KARL W. NICHOLS,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN K. BERZ PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

AJ ATTORNEY, THE LAW OFFICE OF ANTHONY JUREK

Anthony J. Jurek (SBN 1074255) Attorney for the Defendant-Respondent

AJ Attorney, the Law Office of Anthony Jurek 6907 University Avenue, Ste. 191 Middleton, WI 53562

(608) 843-8909 Anthony@AjAttorney.com

Issues Presented

I. Did the circuit court correctly decide that the evidence the State failed to preserve was apparently exculpatory, and that the State acted in bad faith when it failed to preserve exculpatory evidence?

The circuit court found that the evidence was apparently exculpatory.

The circuit court found that the State acted in bad faith.

II. Does this Court have jurisdiction to hear this appeal?

This issue was not before the circuit court.

This court by one judge denied a motion to dismiss, and by another judge a motion for clarification.

III. Is this appeal frivolous?

This issue was not before the circuit court.

Position on Oral Argument and Publication

The criteria by which the Court decides whether oral argument is necessary in light of its incredible case load are stated in Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2). As the Defendant-Respondent believes the contentions of the Plaintiff-Appellant are plainly contrary to relevant legal authority and are without merit on their face, we believe oral argument is unnecessary in that regard. However, as the Court of Appeals sometimes decides cases on issues not briefed by the parties (*see*, *e.g.*, *State v. Daley*, 2006 WI App 81, ¶19, 292 Wis. 2d 517, 716 N.W.2d 146; *State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶83, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662 (Gableman, J. concurring), oral argument is welcomed for the purpose of allowing the court to ask questions of counsel. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.22, Judicial Council Committee's Note, 1978.

The criteria for publication are stated in Wis. Stat. §809.23. Publication of a decision in this case would be appropriate, since this case:

- 1. Involves a rare finding of bad faith on the part of the State (*see*, *e.g.*, *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶96, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592 (Abrahamson, C.J., concurring, citing *State v. Weissinger*, 2014 WI App 73, n.1, 355 Wis. 2d 546, 851 N.W.2d 780, (Brown, J. Concurring)(discussed herein)), bringing the case within the scope of Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(a)1("Enunciates a new rule of law or modifies, clarifies or criticizes an existing rule") or 2 ("Applies an established rule of law to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions");
- 2. Involves a novel question of jurisdiction and the statutory allocation of State authority as an issue of first impression, bringing the case within the scope of Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(a)1 and 5 ("Decides a case of substantial and continuing public interest").;
- 3. Involves a question of frivolity as applied to State appeals, bringing the case within the scope of Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(a)4 ("Contributes to the legal literature by collecting case law or reciting legislative history") and 5.

Statement of the Case

The facts and procedural posture articulated the circuit court's Decision and Order, included in the Appendix to the State's Brief, are accurate.

Argument

The best response to the State's Brief is the Decision and Order of the circuit court itself (hereinafter *Decision*). The State's arguments are merely competing characterizations of evidence that are contrary to the circuit court's findings of fact. But the State is not entitled to request that this court redraw inferences drawn by the trial court: Rather, this Court is bound by the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. The circuit court's findings are not clearly erroneous, and the State's request that this Court redraw inferences is frivolous. The Defendant renews his objection to this Court's jurisdiction on the basis that a Notice of Appeal was not timely filed by a party authorized to do so. Finally, the Defendant requests attorney's fees and costs for the State's filing of a frivolous appeal.

¹ The State also misconstrues that "[t]his case actually comes in the context of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel." State's Brief at 8-9. This is false. *See* Postconviction Motion at 3, subheading I: "The Defendant Was Denied Due Process When the State Failed To Preserve or Disclose Exculpatory Evidence."

I. The Circuit Court's Decision Is Correct

A. The Circuit Court's Finding that the Evidence Was Apparently Exculpatory Is Correct.

The circuit court found that the evidence the State failed to preserve was apparently exculpatory. Evidence not preserved, lost or destroyed by the State must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means. *State v. Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d 59, 67, 525 N.W.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 1994)(citing *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479 (1984) and *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51 (1988)). As the materiality of the evidence rises above being potentially useful to clearly exculpatory, a bad faith analysis is not needed. *Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d at 68.

This Court applies the clearly erroneous standard of review to the trial court's findings of fact, and reviews de novo the application of the legal standard to those facts. *State v. Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d 351, 356-57, 392 N.W.2d 464, 466 (Ct. App. 1986). Appellate courts decide constitutional questions independently, benefiting from the analysis of the circuit court. *State v. Kieffer*, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352, 356-57 (1998).

Findings of fact by the trial court will not be upset on appeal unless they are against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. The evidence supporting the findings of the trial court need not in itself constitute the great weight or clear preponderance of the evidence; nor is reversal required if there is evidence to support a contrary finding. Rather, to command a reversal, such evidence in support of a contrary finding must itself constitute the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. In addition, when the trial judge acts as the finder of fact, and where there is conflicting testimony, the trial judge is the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of the witnesses. When more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the credible evidence, the reviewing court must accept the inference drawn by the trier of fact.

Cogswell v. Robertshaw Controls Co., 87 Wis. 2d 243, 249-50, 274, N.W.2d 647, 650 (1979)(internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

In this case, the circuit court's conclusion that the evidence was apparently exculpatory necessarily follows from the circuit court's extensive and thorough findings of fact, which were amply grounded in the record.

The circuit court had presided extensive pre-trial hearings in this case. Decision at 1-4; 23. The circuit court presided over the three-day trial of the Defendant. *Id.* The circuit court held postconviction motion hearings that also spanned several days. *Id.* The circuit court's view of the evidence the State failed to preserve and its importance is therefore informed by a thorough familiarity with the case.

Evidence is apparently exculpatory if it possessed an exculpatory value that was apparent, and was of a nature that the defendant is unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means. *See, e.g., Youngblood,* 488 U.S. at 67, *Greenwold,* 189 Wis. 2d at 67, *State v. Munford,* 2010 WI App 168, ¶21, 330 Wis. 2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264. The circuit court made exhaustive findings of fact

regarding the exculpatory evidence that the state failed to preserve in determining that it was apparently exculpatory. *Decision* at 16-25.

The circuit court found that the exculpatory nature of the list was apparent to Forensic Interviewer Holzrichter. *Id.* at 23-24.² The circuit court found that the exculpatory nature of the list was apparent to Detective Harris. *Id.* at 20-21.³ The circuit court found that the Defendant could not obtain equivalent evidence by other reasonable means. *Id.* at 21; 24-25.

² Decision at 23-24, a portion of the circuit court's findings of fact and inferences regarding Holzrichter:

The exculpatory value of M.R.W.'s written corrections was apparent at the time of the 2^{nd} Video. Interviewer Holzrichter was calm and patient until M.R.W. explained the first correction. Then, Interviewer Holzrichter hurried to change the subject, leave the room and stop the taping. She did not even pause to allow M.R.W. to discuss her other corrections. Instead, Interviewer Holzrichter pacified M.R.W. by saying they would discuss her list outside of the video room. . . . Clearly, M.R.W.'s written corrections were immediately recognized as exculpatory.

was allowed to discuss. Tr. 9/14/15 P.C. Hear. 99:23-100:10. At the same time, she maintained that she had not found M.R.W.'s written list of corrections significant at the time. Id. at 64:15-21. Detective Harris' acknowledgment of the one correction's significance, her apparent discomfort on the postconviction witness stand, her pauses to search for an answer in postconviction examination, and her erroneous description of M.R.W.'s written corrections in her police report leaves this Court incredulous. . . . Detective Harris was the lead case detective and participated by phone in the 2nd interview. She also reviewed the 2nd Video. She knew, at the time, that M.R.W. had brought a written list of corrections to the 2nd interview. She knew, at the time, that M.R.W. was allowed to divulge only one of her multiple corrections. Detective Harris also knew that her police reports were to include any exculpatory information. She knew those reports would be handed over to the defense during discovery. . . . To believe that Detective Harris' police report coincidentally erred in describing the coincidentally unpreserved evidence is simply unbelievable. Detective Harris' erroneous police report misled the defense and demonstrates bad faith.

³ *Decision* at 20-21, portion of the circuit court's findings of fact and inferences regarding Harris: Detective Harris acknowledged the significance of the one correction M.R.W.

These are all findings of historical and evidentiary fact entitled to the clearly erroneous standard of review. Since they are based in part on the circuit court's expressed observation of evidence and testimony, itself with citations to the record before the circuit court, there is evidence in the record to support them. The circuit court's conclusion that the evidence was apparently exculpatory necessarily follows from its findings of evidentiary and historical fact.

This Court must accept the circuit court's findings of evidentiary and historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d 356-57. The circuit court found that the exculpatory value of the evidence was apparent. The circuit court found that the Defendant is unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means. Therefore, the circuit court's determination that the evidence the state failed to preserve was apparently exculpatory is correct, and this Court must affirm.

B. The Circuit Court's Finding that the State Acted in Bad Faith Is Correct.

The circuit court found that the State acted in bad faith when it failed to preserve exculpatory evidence because State actors consciously suppressed the evidence. *Decision* at 27. Findings of bad faith on the part of the State are rare enough that a standard of review has not been articulated in Wisconsin. Under any standard of review, though, the circuit court's determination in this case must be affirmed as its findings of fact—supported by the record and entitled to clearly erroneous standard of review—are so tightly tied to the legal standard related to them.

The State cites to labor and insurance law cases in articulating the standard of review for circuit court "bad faith" findings without noting that the cases are from labor and insurance law, rather than the criminal realm:

Whether the State or any of its agents acted in bad faith is a mixed question of fact and law. *Bosco v. LIRC*, 2004 WI 77, ¶ 18, 272 Wis. 2d 586, 681 N.W.2d 157; *Brown v. LIRC*, 2003 WI 142, ¶ 10, 267 Wis. 2d 31, 671 N.W.2d 279.

The conduct of the actor is a question of fact. Bosco, 272 Wis. 2d 586 ¶ 18; Brown, 267 Wis. 2d 31, ¶ 10. The defendant has the burden to prove the facts said to show bad faith. Greenwold, 189 Wis. 2d at 70.

But whether the person acted in bad faith is a question of law. *Bosco*, 272 Wis. 2d 586 ¶ 19; *Brown*, 267 Wis. 2d 31, ¶ 11. Therefore, an appellate court is not bound by a circuit court's conclusion that someone acted in bad faith. *Mowry v. Badger State Mut. Cas. Co.*, 129 Wis. 2d 496, 518, 385 N.W.2d 171 (1986).

State's Brief at 19-20.

But that's not what these cases say:

A determination of bad faith under § 102.18(1)(bp) presents a mixed question of fact and law. Id., P10. The historical conduct of a party constitutes an issue of fact, and we will sustain LIRC's factual determinations if they are supported by credible and substantial evidence. Id.

Bosco v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n, 2004 WI 77, ¶18, 272 Wis. 2d 586, 602, 681 N.W.2d 157, 165.

¶10 Our analysis in this case centers around the standard of review. The court of appeals correctly explained that a determination of bad faith under Wis. Stat. § 102.18(1)(bp) and Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 80.70(2) presents a mixed question of fact and law. The parties' conduct presents a question of fact. Courts will sustain LIRC's factual determinations so long as they are supported by credible and substantial evidence.

Brown v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n, 2003 WI 142, ¶ 10.

The cases that the State cites to clearly are clearly limited to "a determination of bad faith *under Wis. Stat. 102.18(1)(bp)." Id.*, (emphasis added). Chapter 102 of the State Statutes is related to "Worker's Compensation." While the standards articulated in cases related to such reviews may be of persuasive value, they are not binding on this Court in this matter. Though, as noted, even under that standard, the circuit court ruling would be affirmed.

The question of what standard of review to use in assessing a circuit court determination of the State's bad faith in failing to preserve exculpatory evidence has not been decided in Wisconsin. Indeed, as noted in the concurrence in *Luedtke*, only 7 out of 1,500 published cases citing *Youngblood* found bad faith on the part of the State. *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶96, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592 (Abrahamson, C.J., concurring, citing *State v. Weissinger*, 2014 WI App 73, n.1, (Brown, J. concurring)). None of those seven cases were from Wisconsin. *See* Teresa N. Chen, *The Youngblood Success Stories: Overcoming the "Bad Faith" Destruction of Evidence Standard*, 109 W. Va. L. Rev. 421, 422 (2007)(*cited by State v. Weissinger*, 2014 WI App 73, ¶30 n.1, 355 Wis. 2d 546, 851 N.W.2d 780 (Brown, J. concurring). Nor do courts automatically employ a *de novo* standard when an issue is one of constitutional fact:

The difference between constitutional facts, mixed questions of fact and law, and historical facts, or simply questions of fact, is often fuzzy at best. The [United States] Supreme Court itself acknowledges that it has not charted an entirely clear course in the elusive arena of distinguishing between legal and factual questions. Whether to label an issue a "question of law," a "question of fact," or a "mixed question of law and fact" often is more a matter of allocation than analysis, an allocation in which the Court recognizes that one judicial actor is better positioned than another to decide a matter.

State v. Byrge, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 220, 614 N.W.2d 477, 487-88 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Indeed, in *Byrge*, our Supreme Court recognized that because of the circuit court's superior position in determining the evidence before it, the issue of competency to stand trial would be reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard.

That's not the only case. More similarly to the issue at hand here, the Wisconsin Supreme Court decided regarding *Batson* claims—which require a determination of discriminatory intent on the part of the State in striking jurors—that Wisconsin law is in accord with the U.S. Supreme Court, holding that discriminatory intent is a question of historical fact, and the clearly erroneous standard of review applies at each step of the *Batson* analysis. *State v. Lamon*, 2003 WI 78, ¶45, 262 Wis. 2d 747, 664 N.W.2d 607. The finding of "official animus or conscious effort to suppress" necessary to a finding of "bad faith" is not conceptually far removed from "discriminatory intent" in the context of *Batson*.

It would not be unique for this Court to hold the same when it comes to circuit court determinations of bad faith on the part of the State. At least one of those few published cases finding bad faith employed the clearly erroneous standard of review:

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